## S219919



S\_\_\_\_\_

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

#### STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 1 5 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

JOSHUA HAVER, individually and as successor-in-interest to LYNNE HAVER, deceased, et al.,

Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners,

VS.

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Defendant and Respondent.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B246527; Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC435551

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

WATERS KRAUS & PAUL
Paul C. Cook (State Bar No. 170901)
Michael B. Gurien (State Bar No. 180538)
222 North Sepulveda Boulevard, Suite 1900
El Segundo, California 90245

#### **ISSUE FOR REVIEW**

Does an employer who uses a toxin, such as asbestos, in the workplace have a duty of care to protect an immediate family member of its employee – in this case, the employee's spouse – from exposure to the toxin when it is foreseeably carried home from the workplace on the employee's body and clothing?

#### INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs' decedent, Lynne Haver ("Ms. Haver"), was exposed to asbestos carried home by her husband from his employment with The Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railway Company, a predecessor of Defendant and Respondent BNSF Railway Company ("Defendant BNSF")

or "BNSF"), from July 1972 to 1974. Ms. Haver was diagnosed with mesothelioma, an asbestos-related disease, in March 2008 and passed away in April 2009.

Plaintiffs filed a wrongful death action against BNSF, alleging that it was negligent in its use of asbestos-containing products and that, because of its negligence, Ms. Haver was exposed to asbestos carried home by her husband from the workplace, resulting in her subsequent development and death from mesothelioma. In *Campbell v. Ford Motor Co.* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 15, Division Seven of the Second Appellate District held that a property owner did not owe a duty of care to protect a family member of an employee of an independent contractor from exposure to asbestos resulting from the contractor's work with asbestos insulation on the owner's property. (*Id.* at 26-34.) Relying on *Campbell*, BNSF demurred to the complaint, arguing that it did not have a duty to protect Ms. Haver from exposure to asbestos used in the operation of its business. The trial court agreed and sustained the demurrer without leave to amend.

In a published decision, a divided panel of Division Five of the Second Appellate District affirmed the resulting judgment. Finding no basis to distinguish or disagree with *Campbell*, the majority held that BNSF did not owe a duty of care to Ms. Haver. (Typed opn. at 2, 4-8.) The dissent disagreed, finding that BNSF had a duty to protect Ms. Haver from asbestos exposures resulting from its negligent use of asbestos in its

business. (Dissent at 1-3.) The dissent found that "BNSF's duty arises from Civil Code section 1714, subsection (a), which makes everyone responsible for injuries caused by his or her negligence," and that the factors in *Rowland v. Christian* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108 did not support a departure from this fundamental duty of care. <sup>1</sup> (*Id.* at 2-3.)

A few weeks before the decision in this case, Division Three of the First Appellate District issued its published decision in *Kesner v. Superior Court* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 251. As here, the issue in *Kesner* was whether an employer owed a duty to protect a family member of its employee from exposure to asbestos arising out of the employer's use of asbestos in its business. (*Id.* at 253-254.) Contrary to the majority's conclusion in this case, the *Kesner* court held that while "[t]he duty of care undoubtedly does not extend to every person who comes into contact with an employer's workers, ... we conclude that the duty runs at least to members of an employee's household who are likely to be affected by toxic materials brought home on the worker's clothing." (*Id.* at 254.) The court distinguished *Campbell* because the claim in that case "was based on

The Rowland factors include: "the foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff, the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, the moral blame attached to the defendant's conduct, the policy of preventing future harm, the extent of the burden to the defendant and consequences to the community of imposing a duty to exercise care with resulting liability for breach, and the availability, cost, and prevalence of insurance for the risk involved." (Rowland, supra, 69 Cal.2d at 112-113; accord, Cabral v. Ralphs Grocery Co. (2011) 51 Cal.4th 764, 771.)

Ford's passive involvement as owner of the plant in which an independent contractor was installing asbestos insulation," as opposed to any negligence arising out of Ford's own, direct use of asbestos, (*id.* at p. 258), and that under the circumstances in *Kesner*, the *Rowland* factors balanced differently and did not support a duty exception. (*Id.* at 256-261.)<sup>2</sup>

The majority in this case declined to follow *Kesner*, finding it distinguishable because "the cause of action in *Kesner* [wa]s for products liability" and did not involve a claim for premises liability, and because "Campbell made clear that its no duty rule encompassed all plaintiffs who suffered secondary exposure to asbestos off the landowner's property, regardless of the frequency of their contact with the worker who was exposed on the premises, or the worker's employment relationship with the landowner." (Typed opn. at 2, 7-8 [italics in original].) The dissent disagreed, finding that *Kesner* was indistinguishable from this case and that its *Rowland* analysis was correct and supported the existence of a duty of care by BNSF. (Dissent at 1-2.)

California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1)<sup>3</sup> provides that "[t]he Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision ... [w]hen

A petition for review by this Court was filed by the defendant in *Kesner* on June 25, 2014 (No. S219534) and remains pending as of the filing of this petition.

Unless stated otherwise, all further rules references are to the California Rules of Court.

necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." Both grounds are implicated by the Court of Appeal's decision in this case, as the majority's no-duty finding is contrary to the *Kesner* court's recognition of a duty of care under substantially similar circumstances, and because the duty issue in this case presents an important question of law that should be resolved by this Court.

Like Kesner, this case is distinguishable from Campbell, where Ford merely owned the premises where the independent contractor's asbestosrelated work was performed and did not itself perform or control that work. In contrast to Campbell, the complaint here alleges that BNSF itself used asbestos in the operation of its business, that it did so through the work of its own employees under its direct control, and that its negligence in using the asbestos resulted in Ms. Haver's exposure to asbestos carried home by her husband from the workplace, causing her development and death from mesothelioma. Thus, unlike the defendant in Campbell, BNSF itself created the asbestos hazard through its own, direct use of asbestos and, under these circumstances, the Rowland duty factors balance differently and do not support a categorical duty exception. However, even if this case is considered to be factually and legally indistinguishable from Campbell, Campbell was wrongly decided and should be disapproved by this Court.

Accordingly, for these reasons, as discussed further below, review in this case is warranted and should be granted.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### I. THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT.

The complaint alleges that Mike Haver, Ms. Haver's former husband, was employed by The Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railway. Company, a predecessor of Defendant BNSF, at its railroad premises in Barstow, California from July 1972 to 1974. (1 Appellants' Appendix ["AA"] 2-3, 5, 7-8, 17 [¶¶ 3-4, 10-11, 22-24 and Ex. A]; typed opn. at 2.) The complaint alleges that the premises where Mr. Haver worked were owned, maintained, managed and controlled by BNSF; that BNSF caused asbestos and asbestos-containing products, including asbestos-containing insulation, to be installed, maintained and used on the premises, including by its employees, and that dangerous quantities of asbestos fibers were released into the air; that Mr. Haver was exposed to asbestos fibers on the premises during the course of his employment, including from asbestoscontaining insulation; that Ms. Haver was exposed to those asbestos fibers through direct and indirect contact with her former husband, including contact with his person, clothes, tools and vehicles; and that her exposure to those asbestos fibers resulted in her development of malignant pleural mesothelioma and subsequent death. (1 AA 5-10, 13, 17-18 [¶¶ 10-13, 22-24, 26, 28, 30, 33-34, 44 and Exs. A and B]; typed opn. at 2-3.)

The complaint alleges that BNSF knew or should have known that the presence and use of asbestos and asbestos-containing products on its

premises created an unsafe condition and an unreasonable risk of harm and personal injury to Ms. Haver and other persons. (1 AA 9 [¶ 27]; typed opn. at 2-3.) The complaint alleges that Ms. Haver had no knowledge of the hazardous condition on BNSF's premises; that BNSF knew that its premises would be used without knowledge or inspection for dangerous conditions, and that persons on the premises would not be aware of the hazardous conditions created by the presence and use of asbestos and asbestos-containing products; that BNSF owed a duty of care to avoid exposing Ms. Haver to an unreasonable risk of harm from its premises; and that it breached its duty by negligently failing to maintain, manage, inspect, survey, or control its premises, and by negligently failing to abate, correct or warn her of the dangerous condition created by the presence and use of asbestos and asbestos-containing products on its premises. (1 AA 9-10  $[\P 26-33]$ ; typed opn. at 2-3.)

In their opposition to BNSF's demurrer, Plaintiffs stated that they could amend the complaint to allege the following additional facts: (1) that "Defendant BNSF's predecessor, The Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railway Company, who employed Ms. Haver's former husband, Mike Haver, from July 1972 until 1974, had actual knowledge that exposure to asbestos could cause fatal lung disease in human beings no later than 1937"; (2) that the risk of exposure to asbestos brought home on the clothing of workers was known or knowable as early as the 1930s and was

well established by the early-to-mid 1970s, when the exposures in this case took place; (3) that as early as the 1930s and 1940s, government and private organizations recognized the need for changing rooms, showers and isolation of dusty clothes in order to prevent workers from taking home toxic dust; (4) that by the time of the exposures in this case (June 1972 to 1974), the scientific and medical literature had specifically demonstrated that take-home asbestos exposures could cause mesothelioma; and (5) that employers were required, pursuant to federal OSHA asbestos regulations enacted in 1972, to use warnings, protective equipment, and other methods to protect against exposure to asbestos. (2 AA 256-258; see also typed opn. at 3 [describing complaint as alleging that "BNSF knew at all times of the danger of asbestos exposure, including secondary exposure to the spouses of its employees, but failed to abate the dangerous conditions on its premises or warn Lynn of their existence"].)

#### II. PROCEDURAL SUMMARY.

#### A. Proceedings In The Trial Court.

The complaint in underlying action was filed on April 12, 2010. (1 AA 1-18.) It alleges claims for wrongful death against Defendant BNSF based on theories of negligence and premises liability. (*Ibid.*)

Following an earlier appeal, BNSF filed a demurrer to the complaint on the ground that it did not owe a duty of care to Ms. Haver. (1 AA 210-244; typed opn. at 3.) Specifically, relying on the decision in *Campbell v*.

Ford Motor Co., supra, 206 Cal.App.4th 15, BNSF argued that it did not owe a duty to protect Ms. Haver from exposure to asbestos arising out its use of asbestos in the conduct of its business on its premises. (*Id.* at 210-218; typed opn. at 3.)

Plaintiffs' opposed the demurrer, (2 AA 249-322), arguing that Campbell was distinguishable and was not authority for the absence of a duty of care in this case. (Id. at 254-255, 260-262.) In Campbell, the issue was whether a property owner owed a duty of care to a family member of an employee of an independent subcontractor hired to install asbestos insulation on the owner's property in the 1940s. (*Ibid.*) In contrast, the issue in this case was whether an employer has a duty to protect an immediate family member (a spouse) of its employee from exposure to asbestos carried home by the employee as a result of the employer's own use of asbestos in the operation of its business, where the employer had direct control over the use of the asbestos. (Ibid.) In addition, Plaintiffs argued that the exposures in this case occurred much later than the exposures in Campbell. (Ibid.) The exposures here occurred in the earlyto-mid 1970s, when knowledge of asbestos as a deadly take-home hazard was far greater than what was known or knowable in the 1940s, when the exposures in *Campbell* took place. (*Ibid.*)

Plaintiffs argued that the duty analysis in *Campbell* was limited to the facts that were before the court in that case, which were limited to take-

home exposures to asbestos from work by an independent contractor on the defendant's property. (2 AA 261-262.) In contrast, Plaintiffs argued that this case involved exposure to asbestos from BNSF's own use of asbestos on its property, by its own employees under its direct control. (*Ibid.*) Plaintiffs argued that *Campbell* was inapplicable to this case because these were not the facts or issue before the *Campbell* court.

Having demonstrated that *Campbell* was inapplicable, Plaintiffs argued next that, based on the allegations of the complaint, as well as the allegations proposed by Plaintiffs in their demurrer opposition, there was no basis upon which to create an exception to the general duty of care that BNSF owed Ms. Haver under *Civil Code* § 1714(a). (2 AA 262-265.) Plaintiffs argued that BNSF, as the party claiming the absence of a duty, had failed to demonstrate that an exception was warranted under the *Rowland* factors. (*Id.* at 262-264.) In addition, Plaintiffs argued that persuasive authority from other jurisdictions had found a duty of care under circumstances analogous to this case. (*Id.* at 264-265.)

In its reply, (2 AA 323-327), BNSF argued that "[t]he issue [of duty] in *Campbell*" was identical to the duty issue in this case and that, based on *Campbell*, it did not owe Ms. Haver a duty of care. (*Id.* at pp. 324-325.)

The trial court sustained the demurrer, without leave to amend, ruling that *Campbell* was controlling and that BNSF did not owe a duty of care to Ms. Haver. (2 AA 328-335; Reporter's Transcript on Appeal, Oct.

24, 2012 ["RT"] at 1-5.) The court disagreed with Plaintiffs' contention that *Campbell* was distinguishable because it did not consider the facts and issue presented in this case. (2 AA 329-330.) The court stated that "the Campbell court's holding that a property owner has no duty to protect family members of any worker on the defendant's premises from secondary exposure from asbestos encompasses the situation here where the defendant is the premises owner and the decedent was a family member of the defendant's employee." (*Ibid.*)

#### B. The Court Of Appeal's Decision.

In a published opinion filed on June 3, 2014, a divided panel of Division Five of the Second Appellate District affirmed the resulting judgment in favor of BNSF. The majority held that there was no basis upon which to distinguish this case from *Campbell*, that *Campbell* was correctly decided, and that BNSF did not owe a duty to protect Ms. Haver from exposure to asbestos carried home by her husband from the workplace. (Typed opn. at 2, 4-8.) The majority declined to follow *Kesner v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th 251, which was decided and published a few weeks earlier, finding that it was distinguishable because "the cause of action in *Kesner* [wa]s for products liability" and did not involve a claim for premises liability, and because "*Campbell* made clear that its no duty rule encompassed *all* plaintiffs who suffered secondary exposure to asbestos off the landowner's property, regardless of the

frequency of their contact with the worker who was exposed on the premises, or the worker's employment relationship with the landowner." (Typed opn. at 2, 7-8 [italics in original].)

The dissent disagreed, concluding that BNSF had a duty to protect Ms. Haver from exposure to asbestos carried home from the workplace by her husband. (Dissent at 1-3.) The dissent found that "BNSF's duty arises from Civil Code section 1714, subsection (a), which makes everyone responsible for injuries caused by his or her negligence," and that the *Rowland* factors did not support an exception to this fundamental duty of care under the circumstances of this case. (*Id.* at 2-3.) The dissent also found that this case was indistinguishable from *Kesner* and that the *Kesner* court's *Rowland* analysis was correct and supported the existence of a duty of care by BNSF. (*Id.* at 1-2.)

No party filed a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal.

#### WHY REVIEW IS WARRANTED

I. REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE THE NO-DUTY FINDING BY THE MAJORITY IN THE COURT OF APPEAL IS CONTRARY TO THE KESNER COURT'S RECOGNITION OF A DUTY OF CARE UNDER SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

Rule 8.500(b)(1) provides that "[t]he Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision ... [w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision." The no-duty finding by the majority in the Court of Appeal is contrary to the *Kesner* court's recognition of a duty of care

under substantially similar circumstances. Because of these divergent holdings, review in this case should be granted "to secure uniformity of decision."

#### A. Campbell v. Ford Motor Co.

In Campbell v. Ford Motor Co. supra, 206 Cal.App.4th 15, the court held "that a property owner has no duty to protect family members of workers on its premises from secondary exposure to asbestos used during the course of the property owner's business." (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at 34.) Although broadly stated, the court's holding was based on a narrow set of facts involving work by an independent contractor.

In Campbell, "[t]he plaintiff ... filed a premises liability action against Ford Motor Company, alleging she had been diagnosed with mesothelioma as a result of her exposure to asbestos from laundering her father's and brother's asbestos-covered clothing during the time they worked with asbestos as independent contractors hired by Ford to install asbestos insulation at its Metuchen, New Jersey plant." (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at 19; see also id. at 20.) The evidence showed that Ford hired a general contractor to construct "a new Lincoln-Mercury assembly plant in Metuchen, New Jersey," that this general contractor hired a subcontractor who, in turn, hired another subcontractor, and that it was the latter subcontractor for whom the plaintiff's father and brother worked. (Id. at 20, 31 n.6.) Thus, there were multiple layers of independent contractors

separating Ford from the independent contractor in question.

On appeal, Ford argued that it had no liability because there was no connection between its role as a hirer of independent contractors, the multiple layers of independent contractors who controlled their own methods and manner of work, and the plaintiff's exposure to asbestos from its property. (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at 23, 28-29.) Relying on Privette v. Superior Court (1993) 5 Cal.4th 689 and its progeny, Ford argued that "it owed [the plaintiff] no duty as a matter of law because a 'property owner is not responsible for injuries caused by the acts or omissions of an independent contractor unless the property owner controlled the work that allegedly caused the injury, or failed to warn of a known pre-existing concealed hazardous condition on the property." (Id. at 29.) Ford argued that because "it owed no duty to [the plaintiff's] father or brother," as employees of an independent contractor, it "therefore owed no duty to her." (Ibid.)

Accordingly, the issue in *Campbell* was whether Ford, as a mere property owner, had a duty to protect a family member of employees of an independent contractor from secondary or take-home exposure to asbestos resulting from the independent contractor's asbestos-related work on its property. The workers using the asbestos insulation were employees of the independent contractor, not Ford; the work that resulted in the exposures to the independent contractor's employees was performed by the independent

contractor, not Ford; and Ford had no control over the independent contractor's work. These were the circumstances under which the *Campbell* court analyzed the *Rowland* duty factors and found that Ford did not owe a duty of care to the plaintiff. (*Campbell*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at 26-34.)

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