No. S219919

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOSHUA HAVER, individually and as successor-in-interest to

LYNNE HAVER, deceased, et al.,

Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Defendant and Respondent.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

AUG - 4 2014

Deputy

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Five, No. B246527
Los Angeles County Superior Court, No. BC435551,
The Honorable Richard E. Rico

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SELIM MOUNEDJI (173347) SIMS LAW FIRM, LLP 19762 MacArthur Blvd., Suite 350 Irvine, California 92612 Telephone: (949) 253-7900

VERONICA LEWIS
(pro hac vice application pending)

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

But, as the Court of Appeal concluded, Plaintiffs' interpretation of *Campbell* "is simply incorrect." (Slip op. at p. 6.) In fact, the court in *Campbell* explicitly stated that its "analysis *does not turn* on th[e] distinction" between direct employee and subcontractor. (*Campbell*,

supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 31, fn. 6, italics added.) That is why Campbell used the term "workers," which includes "those employed by the property owner, as well as those employed by independent contractors to work on the premises of the owner." (Slip op. at 6.)

Moreover, the refusal of the Campbell court and the court below to distinguish between employee and subcontractor in this context is consistent with traditional notions of tort liability. In a premises-liability suit, a property owner can be held liable for an unsafe condition on its property of which it has actual or constructive knowledge regardless of whether the condition was created by the defendant itself or a third party—because premises liability turns on the owner's "control" over the *property*, not the worker. (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal. App. 4th at p. 30, internal quotation marks and citation omitted; see also, e.g., Bridgman v. Safeway Stores, Inc. (1960) 53 Cal.2d 443, 447 [premises owner liable even where the condition was "brought about by natural wear and tear or by third persons"].) The employment relationship between a property owner and a worker may be relevant to the level of duty owed by the property owner to the worker, but it is irrelevant to the duty owed (if any) by the property owner qua property owner to an off-premises nonemployee.

Plaintiffs allege that BNSF was negligent in its capacity as a property owner, not an employer. Because their claim is for premises liability for the death of Ms. Haver, an off-premises nonemployee, *Campbell* is directly on point irrespective of whether BNSF exercised "direct control" over Mr. Haver. (Pet'n at p. 17.)

B. Kesner Does Not Conflict With The Decision Below.

Plaintiffs also attempt to create a conflict between *Campbell* and the decision below, on the one hand, and the First District's decision in *Kesner v. Superior Court* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 251 (*Kesner*), on the other hand. But no such conflict exists.

In *Kesner*, the nephew of a worker who was frequently exposed to asbestos developed mesothelioma and sued his uncle's former employer. (*Id.* at p. 255.) Rather than allege that the uncle's employer was liable as a landowner for a dangerous condition on its premises, the plaintiff brought a *products liability* claim alleging "negligence in the manufacture of asbestos-containing brake linings" (*id.* at p. 258) and sought to hold the employer liable "for injuries arising as a result of the plaintiff's exposure to a harmful substance through contact with the manufacturer's employee." (*Id.* at p. 256.)

As Plaintiffs acknowledge (see Pet'n at p. 20), the court in Kesner explicitly distinguished—and did not "question"—the conclusion in Campbell that "a landowner owes no duty of care to those coming into contact with persons whose clothing carries asbestos dust from the landowner's premises." (Kesner, supra, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 258.) The Court of Appeal explained that "[w]hile the same Rowland factors are pertinent to the analysis of a [productsliability | negligence claim" against a manufacturer, "the balance that must be struck is not necessarily the same as under a claim of premises liability." (Id. at p. 258.) The court therefore applied the Rowland factors and concluded that the plaintiff's contacts with his uncle (as a "frequent visitor" to his uncle's home) could be sufficiently "extensive" to justify imposing a duty on the manufacturer that employed his uncle. (*Id.* at pp. 256, 261.)

The distinction between premises liability and negligent manufacturing is critical. "[I]mposing a duty on a landowner to anybody who comes in contact with somebody who has been on the landowner's property" would expose landowners to unpredictable "liability [of an] unknown but potentially massive dimension." (Kesner, supra, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 258, quoting Campbell, supra,

206 Cal.App.4th at p. 34.) Property owners do not and could not possibly plan for such expansive and unknowable risks. Manufacturers, on the other hand, place goods into the stream of commerce and therefore expect (and insure against) the risk of liability (even strict liability) arising out of their manufacturing to plaintiffs they never encounter and with whom they have no preexisting relationship. (See Greenman v. Yuba Power Products, Inc. (1963) 59 Cal.2d 57, 62 ["A manufacturer is strictly liable in tort when an article he places on the market . . . proves to have a defect that causes injury to a human being."].)

In any event, even if the decision below and *Kesner* were in conflict (which they are not), *Kesner* was wrongly decided. Indeed, it is far from certain that the plaintiff in *Kesner* could recover even under the expansive rule Plaintiffs urge in this case: The plaintiff in *Kesner* was neither an immediate family member of the on-premises worker nor a resident of the worker's household—he was merely the worker's nephew, who sometimes visited the worker's house. (226 Cal.App.4th at p. 255.) In extending a duty to the plaintiff in *Kesner*, the Court of Appeal "emphasize[d] . . . that Kesner's contact with his uncle was extensive," distinguishing other situations in which the

contact might only be "casual or incidental." (*Id.* at p. 261). But that fuzzy distinction reflects the very line-drawing problem that troubled the Court of Appeal in *Campbell* and in this case. (See *Campbell*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 32; see also *Oddone*, *supra*, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 822.) Property owners should not be saddled with expansive exposure to liability based on such vague and undefined distinctions; clear lines, like the rule set forth by the Court of Appeal in this case, are essential.

* * *

Plaintiffs' faulty readings of *Campbell* and *Kesner* are their only bases for asserting that review is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision." (Pet'n at pp. 4-5, quoting Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The fact is that *Campbell*, *Kesner*, and this case are all in *agreement* that "a property owner has no duty to protect family members of workers on its premises from secondary exposure to asbestos used during the course of the property owner's business." (*Campbell*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 34.) Under this unanimous precedent, BNSF had no duty to Ms. Haver and Plaintiffs' premises-liability claim was properly dismissed.

II. There Is No Other Reason To Grant The Petition.

Because the Court of Appeal faithfully applied *Campbell* and other longstanding principles of premises liability, there is no "important question of law" for this Court to settle. (Pet'n at p. 5, quoting Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Indeed, the novel position urged by Plaintiffs would expand premises liability without any natural limiting principle, bringing California law into conflict with the emerging majority of jurisdictions that bar "take-home" liability for asbestos claims.

A. Plaintiffs' Unprecedented Theory Of Premises Liability Raises Significant Policy Concerns.

"Take-home" liability theories like the one urged by Plaintiffs raise serious policy concerns that weigh heavily against the creation of a new duty of premises owners to indirectly injured persons.

The rule Plaintiffs urge this Court to adopt would be devastating for businesses, exposing them to liability that is "uncertain" but "potentially very large" (*Oddone*, *supra*, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 822)—especially in the asbestos context where, as the Court of Appeal observed, "'litigation has already rendered almost one hundred corporations bankrupt." (Slip op. at p. 7, quoting Note, *Continuing War with Asbestos: The Stalemate Among State Courts*

On Liability for Take-Home Asbestos Exposure (2014) 71 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 707, 711.) Without a clear principle limiting the spread of secondary liability, more businesses would find it impossible to assess and manage their litigation risks and would inevitably go bankrupt. Worse, as Plaintiffs recognize, this risk would spread far beyond the asbestos context because "asbestos is not the only toxin to which an employer's obligations apply." (Pet'n at p. 21, quoting Kesner, supra, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 259.)

Moreover, the dramatic expansion of premises liability for secondary exposure to asbestos and other toxins that Plaintiffs propose relies on scientific theories that are shaky at best. By their very nature, "take-home" asbestos claims involve lower levels of exposure than direct exposure claims, making them likely candidates for misleading testimony by experts who claim that *any* exposure to asbestos—no matter how trivial—may be a substantial-factor cause of mesothelioma. (See William L. Anderson et al., *The "Any Exposure" Theory Round II — Court Review of Minimal Exposure Expert Testimony in Asbestos and Toxic Tort Litigation Since 2008* (2012) 22 FALL Kan. J.L. & Pub. Pol'y 1, 2 ["asbestos cases have targeted increasingly de minimis exposure scenarios, including ...

'take-home' cases where the already miniscule exposures from the product or work activity are reduced even further to near obscurity"].) Finding a duty here would encourage more lawsuits based on trivial levels of asbestos exposure, increasing the risk of erroneous verdicts based on dubious theories.

Expanding the number of businesses that each asbestos plaintiff can sue will also lead to more meritless claims against deep-pocket defendants, especially where the entities who actually bear the blame for significant asbestos exposure have already been driven into bankruptcy. (See generally Victor E. Schwartz and Mark A. Behrens, Asbestos Litigation: The "Endless Search for a Solvent Bystander" (2013) 23 Widener L.J. 59.) This phenomenon is readily apparent in the "take-home" liability cases discussed herein. In Kesner, the plaintiff tacked on a secondary exposure claim in a suit that otherwise targeted defendants who exposed him to asbestos directly. Cal.App.4th at p. 255.) And in Campbell, where the jury apportioned Ford only five percent of the fault for the plaintiff's injuries, Ford could have been held jointly and severally liable for the entire amount of the plaintiff's economic damages if the plaintiff had not abandoned her economic damages claim. (206 Cal.App.4th at p. 23; see also

DaFonte v. Up-Right Inc. (1992) 2 Cal.4th 593, 599-600.) The rule proposed by Plaintiffs could lead to decades of additional asbestos litigation targeting defendants based on their ability to pay rather than the significance of their alleged contributions to plaintiffs' injuries.

The rule proposed by Plaintiffs would also conflict with traditional notions of premises liability. Even though this Court has departed from rigid common-law classifications that turn on the *reasons* for visitors being on a property (see *Rowland*, 69 Cal.2d at p. 118), it has never expanded premises liability to include plaintiffs whose only connection with the property is an encounter with someone who visited the site. (See *Campbell*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 30.) Plaintiffs' theory effectively decouples premises liability from the premises at issue.¹

¹ Plaintiffs observe that premises liability may sometimes extend to "persons injured off the property by the owner's negligent use, control and/or maintenance of the property." (Pet'n at p. 32.) But in two of the cases that Plaintiffs cite, the court found no duty. (See *Garcia v. Paramount Citrus Ass'n, Inc.* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1448, 1452 [owner of private road intersecting with public road had no duty where unauthorized user of private road caused accident in intersection]; *A. Teichert & Son, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1986) 179 Cal.App.3d 657, 662-63 [owner of property owed no duty where truck driver turning onto property caused accident].) In the other three cases cited by Plaintiffs, the injury occurred as a result of the [Footnote continued on next page]

B. Plaintiffs' Unprecedented Theory Of Premises Liability Would Make California An Outlier.

Plaintiffs' proposed expansion of a premises owner's duty also contravenes the weight of authority from other States. As the Court of Appeal correctly noted, the "emerging majority view" holds that "an employer can have no legal duty to an employee's spouse who never set foot inside the employer's facility." (Slip op. at p. 6, quoting 4 Cetrulo, Toxic Torts Litigation Guide (2013) § 33:6.) The high courts of Delaware, Georgia, Michigan, and New York have all rejected "take-home" asbestos claims,² and Plaintiffs do not identify a single decision from the highest court of a State supporting their position.

[[]Footnote continued from previous page]

plaintiff's geographic proximity to the defendant's property—a self-limiting principle that retains the traditional link between the *premises* and the *liability*. (See *Barnes v. Black* (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1473, 1477-1478 [tenant sued landlord after child playing at apartment complex lost control of bicycle and veered into busy street]; *Davert v. Larson* (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 407, 412 [owner liable where horse escaped from property and struck automobile on adjacent road]; *Wilson v. Sespe Ranch* (1962) 207 Cal.App.2d 10, 17 [owner liable where fire spread to neighboring properties].)

² See CSX Transp., Inc. v. Williams (Ga. 2005) 608 S.E.2d 208; Price v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours & Co. (Del. 2011) 26 A.3d 162; In re Certified Question from Fourteenth Dist. Court of Appeals of Texas (Mich. 2007) 740 N.W.2d 206 (In re Certified Question); In re New York City Asbestos Litigation (N.Y. 2005) 5 N.Y. 3d 486.

Plaintiffs attempt to draw a distinction between States that "view . . . foreseeability as the primary factor in determining duty" and States that focus primarily on the "relationship between the parties"—with California supposedly falling in the former category—in order to justify California's departure from the majority view. (Pet'n at pp. 27-28.) This argument fails for two reasons.

First, it assumes that "take-home" asbestos injuries are foreseeable, even though courts in many States have found they are not. (See *In re Certified Question*, 740 N.W. 2d at p. 218; *Alcoa Inc.* v. *Behringer* (Tex. Ct. App. 2007) 235 S.W.3d 456, 462.)

Second, Plaintiffs' reductive focus on foreseeability misstates California law, which looks to a number of factors and recognizes that "foreseeability alone is not sufficient to create an independent tort duty." (Erlich v. Menezes (1999) 21 Cal.4th 543, 552; see also, e.g., Vasquez v. Residential Investments, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 269, 281 fn. 5, ["foreseeability and extent of burden to the defendant . . . have evolved to become the primary factors to be considered," italics added].) Like the Campbell court, courts in other States have "weigh[ed]" policy considerations alongside foreseeability and come to the conclusion that the balance of relevant factors militates starkly

against the imposition of a duty in "take-home" asbestos cases. (Burgess v. Superior Court (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1064, 1072; see Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 32.). Adopting Plaintiffs' position and overturning the settled consensus of the Courts of Appeal on the basis of foreseeability alone would therefore bring California law into conflict with other jurisdictions.

CONCLUSION

The sound decision of the Court of Appeal does not warrant this Court's review. The lower courts are in agreement that plaintiffs may not assert premises-liability claims against property owners for secondary exposure to asbestos that occurred off the defendant's premises. There is no reason for this Court to revisit that settled principle, which protects property owners from greatly expanded and unpredictable liability and is consistent with the emerging majority view across the country. Respectfully, this Court should deny the Petition for Review.